# 2012 No. 8

# **EDUCATION, ENGLAND**

# The School Admissions (Admission Arrangements and Coordination of Admission Arrangements) (England) Regulations 2012

Made	3rd January 2012
Laid before Parliament	10th January 2012
Coming into force	1st February 2012

## CONTENTS

## PART 1

## General

1.	Citation, commencement and application	3
2.	Interpretation	3
34.	Revocations and amendments	5

#### PART 2

#### Admission arrangements

#### CHAPTER 1

#### General

5.	Proportion of selective admissions	5
6.	Selection by aptitude for particular subjects	6

#### CHAPTER 2

Admission arrangements: looked after children
Priority for looked after children
Grammar schools
Schools designated as having a religious character

6

6

6 7

# 10.Schools with pre-existing selection arrangements711.Schools which select by pupil banding7

7.

8.

9.

#### CHAPTER 3

	Procedure for determining admission arrangements: consultation	
12.	Persons who must be consulted	7
13.	Matters to which consultation is to relate	8
14.	Matters about which consultation is not required	8
15.	Circumstances where consultation on admission arrangements is not required	8
16.	Manner of consultation	9

17.	Time for consultation and determination of admission arrangements	9

#### CHAPTER 4

Publication by local authority

18.

9

#### 

## CHAPTER 5

Variation of determined admission arrangements	
Variation of admission arrangements	10
Variation of the determined admission number	10
	Variation of admission arrangements

## CHAPTER 6

	Reference of objections to the adjudicator: schools and Academies	
21.	Objections that may not be referred to the adjudicator	10
22.	Restriction on referring objections following a decision by the adjudicator	11
23.	Time limit for objections	11
24.	Condition to be met before the determination of an objection	11
25.	Information to be provided by the admission authority	11

## PART 3

#### Co-ordination of admission arrangements

26.	Formulation of qualifying schemes	11
27.	Action to be taken by a local authority to secure adoption of a qualifying	
	scheme	11
28.	Information to be provided to the Secretary of State	12
29.	Making of a scheme by the Secretary of State	12
30.	Offer date	12
31.	Saving for qualifying schemes	13
32.	Sections 496 and 497 of the Education Act 1996	13

## PART 4

	Miscellaneous	
33.	Provision of information to local authority	13
34.	Representative bodies or persons for schools designated as having a religious character	13

SCHEDULE 1 — Information to be provided by the admission authority	13
SCHEDULE 2 — Requirements of a qualifying scheme	14
SCHEDULE 3 — Representative bodies or persons of the religion or religious denomination for schools designated as having a religious	
character	16
SCHEDULE 4 — Rabbinic Authorities	16

The Secretary of State for Education makes the following Regulations in exercise of the powers conferred by sections 88B, 88C, 88E, 88F, 88H, 88K, 88M, 88N, 88O, 88Q, 92, 100, 102 and

138(7) of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998(**a**) and section 29(5) of the Education Act 1996(**b**):

## PART 1

#### General

#### Citation, commencement and application

**1.**—(1) These Regulations may be cited as the School Admissions (Admission Arrangements and Co-ordination of Admission Arrangements) Regulations 2012 and come into force on 1st February 2012.

(2) Chapters 1 to 5 of Part 2 of these Regulations apply in relation to arrangements under which pupils are admitted to schools in England for the academic year 2013-2014 and subsequent years.

(3) Part 1 so far as it relates to co-ordination of admission arrangements and Part 3 of these Regulations—

- (a) apply (subject to the saving in regulation 3(3)) in relation to arrangements under which pupils are to be admitted to schools in England for the academic year 2014-2015 and subsequent years; and
- (b) do not apply to the Council of the Isles of Scilly.

(4) These Regulations apply in relation to arrangements under which pupils are admitted to schools in England and, in respect of objections to admission arrangements, these Regulations apply to both schools and Academies.

#### Interpretation

**2.**—(1) Save where otherwise appears, any reference in these Regulations to a numbered section is a reference to that section of SSFA 1998.

(2) In these Regulations—

"SSFA 1998" means the School Standards and Framework Act 1998;

"academic year" means a period commencing with 1st August and ending with the next 31st July;

"Academy" has the meaning in section 1(10) of the Academies Act 2010(c): a school to which Academy arrangements relate;

"Academy arrangements" has the meaning in section 1(2) of the Academies Act 2010;

"admission authority" has the meaning in section 88(1)(**d**);

"admission number" means the number of children in any relevant year group intended to be admitted in the academic year as determined or, where the context requires, proposed to be determined by an admission authority in accordance with section 88D;

<sup>(</sup>a) 1998 c.31; sections 88B to 88Q were inserted by section 151 of the Education and Skills Act 2008 (c.25), sections 88F, 88M, 88N, 88O and 88Q were amended by S.I. 2010/1158 and sections 88F, 88H, 88K and 88Q were amended by the Education Act 2011 (c.21): sections 88H and 88K by section 36, sections 88H and 88K by section 64, and sections 88F, 88Q and 88K by Schedule 10. Section 92 is substituted by paragraph 7 of Schedule 4 to the Education Act 2002 (c.32), sections 100 and 102 were amended respectively by sections 53 and 54 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 (c.40). See section 142(1) of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 for the definition of "regulations" and "prescribed".

<sup>(</sup>b) 1996 c.56; see section 579(1) of the Education Act 1996 for the definition of "regulations".

<sup>(</sup>c) 2010 c.32; section 53 of the Education Act 2011 (c.21), which is not yet in force, prospectively amends section 1(10) of the Academies Act 2010 and inserts section 1A into that Act. An Academy for the purposes of these Regulations will become known as an Academy school under section 1A of the Academies Act when section 53 of the Education Act 2011 is brought into force.

<sup>(</sup>d) Section 88 was amended by section 43(1) of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 (c.40), S.I. 2010/1158 and section 64(2) of the Education Act 2011 (c.21).

"admission year" in relation to the admission of pupils to schools during a particular academic year in pursuance of a qualifying scheme or a scheme imposed by the Secretary of State, means that academic year;

"application", in relation to arrangements made by a local authority under section 86(1)(a), means a parent's expression of preference as to the school at which that parent wishes education to be provided for the child;

"determination year", in relation to the proposed admission arrangements for a school, means the academic year beginning two years before the academic year to which the arrangements relate:

"offer date" means the date prescribed by regulation 30 when applicants receive notice of the place they have been allocated at a primary or secondary school;

"offer year" means the academic year immediately preceding the admission year;

"oversubscription criteria" means the criteria to be used to allocate places at a school if the admission authority receive more applications than there are places available;

- (a) were included in the admission arrangements for a school at the beginning of the academic year 1997-1998 and for each subsequent academic year, and
- (b) which depend solely for their lawfulness on section 100 (permitted selection: pre-existing arrangements)(b);

"prescribed alteration" means an alteration prescribed for the purposes of section 18 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006(c);

"qualifying scheme" means a scheme co-ordinating arrangements for the admission of pupils to primary schools and secondary schools in the local authority area formulated by a local authority pursuant to section 88M(1)(a)(d) and these Regulations;

"relevant area" has the meaning in section 88F(4)(e);

"school" means a community, foundation or voluntary school;

"School Admissions Code" means any code for school admissions issued under section 84(f);

"selective Academy" is an Academy which replaces a school and to which section 6(3) of the Academies Act 2010 applies (retention of selective admission arrangements on conversion);

"selection arrangements" means those arrangements (if any) in the admission arrangements determined for a school for a particular academic year which make provision for the selection of pupils by ability or aptitude within the meaning of section 99(5);

"working day" means any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday, Christmas Day, Good Friday or a day which is a bank holiday within the meaning of the Banking and Financial Dealings Act 1971(g);

(3) For the purposes of these Regulations admission arrangements for a school or an Academy are treated as being for the particular academic year in which pupils are to be admitted to the school in consequence of the arrangements.

(4) For the purposes of these Regulations an application is made in the course of a normal admission round if it is not a late application or an in-year application.

(5) For the purposes of these Regulations an application is a late application if—

<sup>(</sup>a) Section 86(1) was amended by S.I. 2010/1158.

<sup>(</sup>b) That is to say they are not rendered lawful by section 99(2)(c) (sixth forms), section 101 (permitted selection: pupil banding), or section 102 (permitted selection: aptitude for particular subjects) of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 (c.31), nor by section 39(1)(b) (grammar schools) of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 (c.40). (c) 2006 c.40.

<sup>(</sup>d) Section 88M(1) was amended by S.I. 2010/1158.

<sup>(</sup>e) Section 88F was amended by S.I. 2010/1158.

Section 84 was amended by section 40 of, and Part 6 of Schedule 18 to, the Education and Inspections Act 2006(c.40). (**f**)

<sup>(</sup>g) 1971 c.80.

- (a) it is for the admission of a child to a relevant age group(**a**);
- (b) it is submitted before the first day of the first school term of the admission year; and
- (c) a determination relating to the application is not made by an admissions authority on or before the offer date.

(6) For the purposes of these Regulations an application is an in-year application if—

- (a) it is for the admission of a child to a relevant age group and it is submitted on or after the first day of the first school term of the admission year; or
- (b) it is for the admission of a child to an age group other than a relevant age group.

#### **Revocations and amendments**

**3.**—(1) Subject to the savings in paragraphs (2) and (3) the following Regulations are revoked—

- (a) the School Admissions (Admission Arrangements) (England) Regulations 2008(b);
- (b) the School Admissions (Co-ordination of Admission Arrangements) (England) Regulations 2008(c); and
- (c) the School Admissions (Local Authority Reports and Admission Forums) (England) Regulations 2008(d).

(2) The Regulations in paragraph (1)(a) continue to have effect in relation to the arrangements under which pupils are admitted to schools in England for the academic years 2011-2012 and 2012-2013.

(3) Subject to regulation 31, the Regulations in paragraph (1)(b) continue to have effect in relation to the arrangements under which pupils are admitted to schools in England for the academic years 2011-2012, 2012-2013 and 2013-2014.

4.—(1) The School Information (England) Regulations 2008(e) are amended as follows.

(2) In paragraph 2(d) of Part 1 of Schedule 2 (Information to be published in Composite Prospectus) after the words "admission round", insert the words "can be made and".

(3) In paragraph 15 of Part 2 of Schedule 2, omit sub-paragraph (c).

## PART 2

#### Admission arrangements

#### CHAPTER 1

#### General

#### **Proportion of selective admissions**

**5.**—(1) This regulation has effect for the purpose of calculating the proportion of selective admissions within the meaning of section 100(3) and section 102(4) in relation to the admission of pupils in any relevant age group to a school in any year.

(2) For the purpose of that calculation the total number of pupils in any such age group admitted to the school in an academic year is to be taken to equal the number of pupils in that age group which it is intended to admit to the school in that year.

<sup>(</sup>a) See section 142(1) of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 (c.31) for the definition of "relevant age group".

<sup>(</sup>b) S.I. 2008/3089, amended by S.I. 2009/1099 and S.I. 2010/1172.

<sup>(</sup>c) S.I. 2008/3090.

<sup>(</sup>d) S.I. 2008/3091.

<sup>(</sup>e) S.I. 2008/3093.

#### Selection by aptitude for particular subjects

**6.**—(1) Subject to paragraph (2) the following subjects are prescribed for the purposes of section 102 (permitted selection: aptitude for particular subjects)—

- (a) modern foreign languages, or any such language,
- (b) the performing arts, or any one or more of the performing arts,
- (c) the visual arts, or any one or more of the visual arts,
- (d) physical education or sport, or any one or more sports,
- (e) design and technology,
- (f) information technology.

(2) The subjects in sub-paragraphs (e) and (f) of paragraph (1) are prescribed in relation to admission arrangements for a school for the academic year 2013-2014 and subsequent academic years only if the admission arrangements for that school made provision for the selection of pupils by reference to their aptitude in those subjects in relation to the academic year 2007-2008 and each subsequent year.

#### CHAPTER 2

#### Admission arrangements: looked after children

#### Priority for looked after children

7.—(1) Except where regulations 8, 9, 10 or 11 apply, an admission authority must give first priority in their oversubscription criteria to all relevant looked after children.

(2) For the purposes of this Part—

- (a) "relevant looked after child" means a child who is looked after by the local authority in accordance with section 22 of the Children Act 1989(a) at the time an application to a school is made, and
- (b) any reference to an admission authority giving priority in their oversubscription criteria to a relevant looked after child is a reference to the authority giving priority to such a child when determining their admission arrangements before the beginning of each school year in accordance with section 88C.

#### **Grammar schools**

**8.**—(1) This regulation applies to an admission authority for a grammar school as defined by section 104(7).

(2) No priority need be given to a relevant looked after child where the arrangements for the admission of pupils are wholly based on selection by reference to ability and provide for only those pupils who achieve the highest ranked results in any selection test to be admitted.

(3) Where paragraph (2) does not apply, the admission authority must give first priority in their oversubscription criteria to all relevant looked after children who meet the pre-set standards of the school.

#### Schools designated as having a religious character

**9.**—(1) This regulation applies to an admission authority for a school which has been designated as having a religious character by an order under section 69(3).

<sup>(</sup>a) 1989 c.4; section 22(1) was amended by the Local Government Act 2000 (c.22), Schedule 5, the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 (c.35), section 2(2), and the Adoption and Children Act 2002 (c.38), section 116(2). There are further amendments to section 22 which are not relevant for these Regulations.

(2) The admission authority may give first priority in their oversubscription criteria to all relevant looked after children, whether or not they are of the same faith as that of the school in accordance with its designation, and must in any event—

- (a) give first priority to all relevant looked after children who are of that faith, and
- (b) give higher priority to all relevant looked after children not of that faith than to all other children not of that faith.

#### Schools with pre-existing selection arrangements

**10.**—(1) This regulation applies to an admission authority for a school which has pre-existing selection arrangements.

(2) No priority need be given to a relevant looked after child where the arrangements for the admission of pupils are wholly based on selection by reference to ability and provide for only those pupils who achieve the highest ranked results in any selection test to be admitted.

(3) Where paragraph (2) does not apply, the admission authority must give first priority in their oversubscription criteria to all relevant looked after children who meet the pre-set standards of the school.

(4) Where the admission authority have allocated places in accordance with paragraph (2) or (3), they must give higher priority to all relevant looked after children who have not been allocated a place on the basis of their ability or aptitude in the oversubscription criteria than to all other children who have not been offered a place on the basis of their ability or aptitude.

#### Schools which select by pupil banding

11.—(1) This regulation applies to an admission authority for a school which makes provision for selection by ability in accordance with section 101(1) or (1A)(a) (permitted selection: pupil banding).

(2) The admission authority must give first priority in their oversubscription criteria to all relevant looked after children within each band over all other children eligible for a school place within that band.

#### CHAPTER 3

#### Procedure for determining admission arrangements: consultation

#### Persons who must be consulted

**12.**—(1) This regulation prescribes for the purposes of section 88C(2) the persons who must be consulted about proposed admission arrangements for a school.

(2) Subject to regulation 14 the following persons must be consulted-

- (a) whichever of the governing body and the local authority are not the admission authority;
- (b) the admission authorities for all other schools in the relevant area;
- (c) where the admission authority for the school are the local authority, any neighbouring local authority;
- (d) parents of children between the ages of two and eighteen who are resident in the relevant area;
- (e) such other persons in the relevant area who in the opinion of the admission authority have an interest in the proposed admission arrangements; and

<sup>(</sup>a) Subsections 101(1) and (1A) were amended and inserted respectively by the Education and Inspections Act 2006 (c.40), section 54(1).

(f) in the case of a foundation or voluntary aided school which is designated as having a religious character by an order under section 69(3), the body or person representing the religion or religious denomination in question as specified in Schedule 3.

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(b) in the case of a primary school the admission authority need only consult the admission authorities for other primary schools.

(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(c) a local authority are "neighbouring", in relation to another local authority, if the areas of the two authorities adjoin to any extent.

#### Matters to which consultation is to relate

13.—(1) This regulation prescribes for the purposes of section 88C(2) the matters to which any consultation must relate.

(2) Subject to regulations 14 and 15, consultation must relate to the arrangements (including any supplementary information form) which the admission authority propose to determine as the admission arrangements for the school for the particular academic year, except any exempt arrangements.

(3) For the purposes of paragraph (2) admission arrangements are exempt to the extent that—

- (a) in the case of a grammar school, they make provision that the school should retain selective admission arrangements as defined by section 104(2) or that the school should cease to have such arrangements in accordance with section 108(a) or section 109(b);
- (b) section 88C is excluded by section 103(1) and (2)(c) from applying to their determination (making or abandonment of provision for selection which constitutes a prescribed alteration).

#### Matters about which consultation is not required

**14.**—(1) Subject to paragraph (2) an admission authority are not required to consult about a proposal to increase or keep the same admission number in any consultation on admission arrangements under section 88C(2) for the academic year 2013-2014 or any subsequent years.

(2) Where the admission authority for a community or voluntary controlled school are the local authority they must consult the governing body of the school if they propose to increase or keep the same admission number.

#### Circumstances where consultation on admission arrangements is not required

**15.**—(1) This regulation prescribes for the purposes of section 88C(2) the circumstances in which an admission authority are not required to consult on their proposed admission arrangements.

(2) Subject to paragraphs (3) and (4) an admission authority are not required to consult on their proposed admission arrangements for the academic year 2013-2014 and any subsequent admission year where they consulted on their proposed admission arrangements in accordance with section 88C(2) in any of the seven preceding determination years, and the proposed arrangements are the same as those determined following the last such consultation.

(3) The proposed arrangements are treated as the same for the purpose of paragraph (2) if the only change made to the proposed admission arrangements is one or more of the following changes—

(i) an increase to the admission number in accordance with regulation 14, or

<sup>(</sup>a) Section 108 was amended by the Education and Skills Act 2008 (c.25), Schedule 1, paragraph 70.

 <sup>(</sup>b) Section 109 was amended by the Education and Inspections Act 2006 (c.40), Schedule 3, paragraph 29, and S.I. 2010/1158.
(c) Subsection 103(1) was amended by the Education and Skills Act 2008 (c.25), Schedule 1, paragraph 69. Subsection 103(2)

<sup>(</sup>c) Subsection 103(1) was amended by the Education and Skills Act 2008 (c.25), Schedule 1, paragraph 69. Subsection 103(2) was amended by Education and Inspections Act 2006 (c.40), section 54(3)(a) and (b).

(ii) a change made to comply with any mandatory requirement in the School Admissions Code or these Regulations.

(4) A consultation required under regulation 14(2) is not to be regarded as a consultation for the purpose of calculating whether an admission authority have consulted in any of the seven preceding determination years in paragraph (2).

#### Manner of consultation

16.—(1) During a period of consultation an admission authority must—

- (a) publish their proposed admission arrangements on their website (if they have one), together with details of the person within the admission authority to whom comments may be sent, for the duration of the consultation held by virtue of regulation 12(1) and (2), and
- (b) send upon request to each person who must be consulted by virtue of sub-paragraphs (a) to (f) of regulation 12(2) a copy of the proposed admission arrangements, inviting their comments.

(2) For the purposes of this regulation the proposed admission arrangements must include any exempt arrangements (within the meaning of regulation 13(3)) and the admission number together with an indication as to the matters on which comments are not sought.

(3) Communication under paragraph (1)(b) may be effected by the transmission of a copy of the proposed admission arrangements in electronic form.

#### Time for consultation and determination of admission arrangements

17.—(1) Subject to paragraph (2) every admission authority must, in respect of their proposed admission arrangements for a school for each academic year, take all steps necessary to ensure that they will have completed any consultation required by section 88C and these Regulations before 1st March in the determination year.

(2) Any consultation—

- (a) must allow consultees at least eight weeks to respond, and
- (b) in the case of consultations in relation to admission arrangements for the academic year 2014-2015 and subsequent years, must start no earlier than 1st November in the determination year.

(3) Every admission authority must determine their admission arrangements by 15th April in the determination year.

#### CHAPTER 4

#### Publication of determined admission arrangements

#### **Publication by local authority**

**18.**—(1) A local authority must publish the following information on their website by 1st May in the determination year—

- (a) the proposed admission arrangements for any school or Academy which is intended to open in their area within the determination year;
- (b) the details of where the determined admission arrangements for schools and Academies in their area can be viewed; and
- (c) a statement about any person or body's right to object to admission arrangements, the condition to be met before an objection can be determined (regulation 24), and those objections that cannot be made (regulations 21 or 22).

(2) Where determined admission numbers are varied under regulation 20, the local authority must publish the varied admission arrangements on their website following—

- (a) the making of the variation, or
- (b) where the local authority are not the admission authority, receipt of notification of the variation having been made.

#### CHAPTER 5

#### Variation of determined admission arrangements

#### Variation of admission arrangements

**19.**—(1) This regulation prescribes for the purposes of section 88E(9)(b) the circumstances in which an admission authority may vary the admission arrangements they have determined for a particular academic year.

(2) An admission authority may vary the admission arrangements under which pupils are to be admitted to school to the extent that such variation is necessary to give effect to any of the following—

- (a) the School Admissions Code;
- (b) mandatory requirements of Part 3 of SSFA 1998;
- (c) a determination of the adjudicator under sections 88H(4)(a), 88I(4)(b) or 88I(5)(b); or
- (d) a correction to any misprint in the admission arrangements.

#### Variation of the determined admission number

**20.**—(1) This regulation prescribes for the purposes of section 88E(3) the case in which an admission authority are not required to refer their proposed variation to the adjudicator.

(2) A variation to increase the determined admission number may be made by an admission authority without being referred to the adjudicator.

#### CHAPTER 6

Reference of objections to the adjudicator: schools and Academies

#### Objections that may not be referred to the adjudicator

**21.**—(1) For the purposes of section 88H(2)(b) the description of objections that may not be referred under section 88H(2)(b) is—

- (a) an objection which in substance seeks an alteration to admission arrangements for a grammar school, which by virtue of section 104(4) may only be made in accordance with sections 105(c) to 109(d) (altering the school's admission arrangements so that it no longer has selective admission arrangements);
- (b) an objection which in substance seeks an alteration to admission arrangements for a selective Academy so as to remove selection, which by virtue of its Academy arrangements may only be made in accordance with those Academy arrangements;
- (c) an objection that the admission number has not been changed or has been increased for—
  - (i) any school whose admission authority are not the local authority; or
  - (ii) an Academy;

<sup>(</sup>a) Subsection 88H(4) was amended by the Education Act 2011 (c.21), section 36(4).

<sup>(</sup>b) Subsection 88H(2) was amended by the Education Act 2011 (c.21), section 36(2).

<sup>(</sup>c) Section 105 was amended by S.I. 2010/1158.

<sup>(</sup>d) Section 109 was amended by the Education and Inspections Act 2006 (c.40), Schedule 3, paragraph 29 and S.I. 2010/1158.

- (d) an objection in respect of an increase or no change to the admission number for a community or voluntary controlled school other than an objection by the governing body of that school;
- (e) an objection to an agreement that the admission arrangements for an Academy may vary from the School Admissions Code.

(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (e), an agreement is that made between the proprietor of an Academy and the Secretary of State and set out in the Academy arrangements.

#### Restriction on referring objections following a decision by the adjudicator

**22.** For the purposes of section 88H(5)(d)(a), where the adjudicator has determined an objection to the admission arrangements of a school or Academy, no objection may be referred to the adjudicator raising the same or substantially the same issues in relation to those admission arrangements within 2 years of the decision by the adjudicator.

#### Time limit for objections

**23.** The adjudicator is not required to determine an objection referred under section 88H(2) unless it is received by the adjudicator on or before 30th June in the determination year.

#### Condition to be met before the determination of an objection

**24.** An objection may only be referred under section 88H(2) where the person or body making the objection provides their name and address to the adjudicator.

#### Information to be provided by the admission authority

**25.** Where the adjudicator is carrying out functions under sections 88H and 88I(**b**) and makes a request to the admission authority of a school or an Academy for any of the information set out in Schedule 1 to these Regulations the admission authority must provide the requested information to the adjudicator.

### PART 3

#### Co-ordination of admission arrangements

#### Formulation of qualifying schemes

**26.**—(1) A local authority must formulate, in relation to each academic year, a qualifying scheme in relation to each primary and secondary school in their area (a "qualifying scheme").

(2) A qualifying scheme must comply with the requirements in Schedule 2.

#### Action to be taken by a local authority to secure adoption of a qualifying scheme

**27.**—(1) This regulation prescribes for the purposes of section 88M(1)(b)(c) the action to be taken by a local authority with a view to securing the adoption of a qualifying scheme by themselves and each governing body who are the admission authority for a primary school or secondary school in their area.

(2) The local authority must formulate a qualifying scheme by 1st January in the relevant determination year.

<sup>(</sup>a) Subsection 88H(5(d) was amended by the Education Act 2011 (c.21), section 36(5)(d).

<sup>(</sup>b) Sections 88H and 88I were amended by the Education Act 2011 (c.21). Section 88H was amended by section 36(1) to (6), and section 64(3). Section 88I was amended by sections 34(3) and 64(4).

<sup>(</sup>c) Section 88M(1) was amended by S.I. 2010/1158.

(3) Where—

- (a) the qualifying scheme is substantially different from the qualifying scheme adopted for the preceding academic year, or
- (b) the local authority have not consulted on a qualifying scheme adopted in the previous seven years,

the local authority must consult the bodies mentioned in paragraph (4).

(4) The bodies to be consulted are—

- (a) each governing body who are the admission authority for a school in the local authority's area; and
- (b) any other local authority as the authority thinks appropriate.

(5) The consultation pursuant to paragraph (4)(b) must be undertaken with a view in particular to securing that the arrangements for the admission of pupils to schools in the areas of different local authorities are, so far as is reasonably practicable, compatible with each other.

(6) After the local authority have carried out any consultation required under this regulation they must determine the qualifying scheme (either in its original form or with such modifications as the authority think fit) for the academic year in question and must take all reasonable steps to secure its adoption by themselves and each governing body who are an admission authority that they consulted in relation to it.

#### Information to be provided to the Secretary of State

**28.** A local authority must inform the Secretary of State by 15th April in the relevant determination year whether they have secured the adoption of a qualifying scheme or not.

#### Making of a scheme by the Secretary of State

**29.** In any case where by 15th April in the relevant year the local authority have not informed the Secretary of State in accordance with regulation 28 that a scheme has been adopted in their area—

- (a) the Secretary of State may make and impose a scheme, or
- (b) where the Secretary of State has previously made and imposed a scheme which had effect in relation to the preceding year and has not been revoked, the Secretary of State may notify the local authority that that scheme has effect in relation to the academic year immediately following.

#### Offer date

**30.**—(1) Subject to paragraph (3), this regulation prescribes for the purposes of section 88M(4)(b), the single date in each year on which a determination made in accordance with the provisions of a qualifying scheme or a scheme imposed by the Secretary of State to offer or refuse a child admission to a primary or secondary school must be communicated to a parent.

(2) The prescribed day is—

- (a) for primary schools, 16th April,
- (b) for secondary schools, 1st March,

in the offer year except that, in any year in which that day is not a working day the prescribed day is the next working day.

(3) The requirement in paragraph (1) to send a determination to offer or refuse a child admission to a school only applies to applications made in the course of a normal admission round.

#### Saving for qualifying schemes

**31.** Any qualifying scheme formulated on or before 1st January 2012 under the School Admissions (Co-ordination of Admission Arrangements) (England) Regulations 2008(**a**) for admission of pupils to a school in September 2013 is to have effect, save that any part of the scheme that relates to in-year applications will not have effect.

#### Sections 496 and 497 of the Education Act 1996

**32.** Sections 496 and 497(**b**) of the Education Act 1996 apply to a local authority or a governing body as if any of the obligations imposed on them under a qualifying scheme or an imposed scheme were duties imposed on them under that Act.

## PART 4

#### Miscellaneous

#### Provision of information to local authority

**33.** For the purposes of section 88Q (relevant persons who must provide information to a local authority), the clerk to an appeal panel constituted under section 94(5)(c) is a relevant person.

#### Representative bodies or persons for schools designated as having a religious character

**34.** For the purposes of section 88F(3)(e) the bodies or persons listed in Schedule 3 are the representatives of the religion or religious denomination in question for schools designated as having a religious character.

Nick Gibb Minister of State Department for Education

3rd January 2012

## SCHEDULE 1

**Regulation 25** 

## Information to be provided by the admission authority

**1.** The following information must be provided by an admission authority if requested by the adjudicator.

**2.** Details of the school's pupil numbers for the past five years, including for each year the admission number, the number admitted, the number of applications and the number of appeals.

3. Projected applicant numbers for the school for the next three years.

<sup>(</sup>a) S.I. 2008/3090.

<sup>(</sup>b) Sections 496 and 497 were amended by the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 (c.31), Schedule 30, paragraphs 57, 129 and 130; the Education and Inspections Act 2006 (c.40), section 168; the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009 (c.22), sections 59 and 221, and Schedule 2, paragraphs 1 to 8; and S.I. 2010/1158.

<sup>(</sup>c) Subsection 94(5) was inserted by the Education Act 2002 (c.32), section 50 and Schedule 4, paragraph 4.

4. A copy of the admissions booklet for parents.

5. A copy of the determined admission arrangements for the school.

**6.** A copy of the minutes of the meeting at which the admission authority determined the admission arrangements.

7. If the admission authority are not the governing body of the school, the date on which the determined admission number was notified to the governing body.

**8.** The dates on which the objection, or as the case may be the adjudicator's consideration of the admission arrangements under section 88I, was discussed by the governing body of the school and where such discussions have been held a copy of the minutes of those discussions.

## SCHEDULE 2

Regulation 26

## Requirements of a qualifying scheme

#### General

1. A qualifying scheme must—

- (a) ensure, so far as is reasonably practicable, that each parent in the local authority's area who makes an application on the common application form in respect of the admission of a child to a school receives a single offer of a school place under the scheme;
- (b) ensure, so far as is reasonably practicable, in any case where a child is eligible to be granted admission to more than one school, that the child is offered admission to whichever of those schools is ranked highest on the common application form;
- (c) require a common application form to be completed, enabling a parent in a local authority's area—
  - (i) to provide their name and address, and the name, address and date of birth of the child,
  - (ii) to apply for no fewer than three schools, whether or not any school for which an application is made is within the local authority's area,
  - (iii) to give reasons for any application;
  - (iv) to rank each application in relation to any other application;
- (d) identify for each school to which the scheme applies whether it is the local authority or the governing body who are the admission authority;
- (e) where the governing body who are the admission authority for such a school have made arrangements for another body to determine the order of priority under paragraph 5(b), identify that body; and
- (f) specify that any notification of acceptance of a school place must be received by the local authority within two weeks after the date of the offer.

#### Applications made in the course of a normal admission round

**2.**—(1) This paragraph specifies provisions to be made in a qualifying scheme about applications made in the course of a normal admission round.

- (2) A qualifying scheme must—
  - (a) require the common application form to be submitted to the local authority by 31st October in the offer year, in relation to applications for secondary schools, and 15th January in the offer year, in relation to applications for primary schools;

- (b) specify how applications submitted after the dates mentioned in sub-paragraph (2)(a) will be processed;
- (c) require a local authority to send any determination granting or refusing admission to a school to a parent on the offer date (such determination being sent on behalf of the school's governing body in any case where the local authority are not the admission authority for the school); and
- (d) specify the dates by which each of the steps required to be taken in accordance with this Schedule is to be performed, including where the date is specified in this Schedule.

#### **Applications for in-area schools**

**3.**—(1) This paragraph specifies provisions to be made in a qualifying scheme about applications made for a school in the area of the local authority.

(2) The scheme must require the local authority—

- (a) where the application is for a school for which the governing body are the admission authority, to forward details of the application, together with any supporting information provided by the parent, to the governing body or the body with whom the governing body has made arrangements under paragraph 5(b) (except where that body is the authority);
- (b) where the application is for a school for which the local authority are the admission authority, to determine by reference to the school's admissions criteria the order of priority in which the application for the school is ranked;
- (c) in any case where it appears to the local authority, having regard to—
  - (i) any determination made in accordance with paragraph (b), and
  - (ii) any information sent to them in accordance with paragraph 5(c),

that a child in their area is eligible to be granted admission to more than one school, or is not eligible to be offered admission to any school, to determine in accordance with the provisions of the scheme whether the child is to be granted or refused admission to a school in their area;

- (d) in any case where the local authority determine in accordance with paragraph (c) that a child is to be granted or refused admission to a school in their area for which they are not the admission authority, to notify the school's governing body of their determination;
- (e) except where paragraph (f) applies, to send any determination granting or refusing admission to a school to the parent (such determination being sent on behalf of a school's governing body in any case where the local authority are not the admission authority for the school); and
- (f) with regard to any application relating to a child living in a different local authority's area, to notify that local authority of their determination.

#### Additional duties on an authority relating to applications for out-of area schools

**4.**—(1) This paragraph applies where a parent in the area of a local authority ("the home authority") applies under the common application form for a school in the area of a different local authority ("the maintaining authority").

(2) The home authority must forward details of the application to the maintaining authority, together with any supporting information provided by the parent.

(3) A qualifying scheme must—

(a) specify that, in determining in accordance with paragraph 3(2)(c) whether the child is to be granted or refused admission to any school in the home authority's area for which an application has also been made, that authority will have regard to any information provided by the maintaining authority as to whether the child is to be granted admission to a school within that authority's area; and (b) require the home authority to send any determination granting or refusing admission to the school in the maintaining authority's area to the parent (such determination being sent on behalf of the school's governing body in any case where they are the admission authority for the school).

#### Duties of governing body under a qualifying scheme

**5.** A qualifying scheme must require a governing body who are the admission authority for a school—

- (a) to forward to their local authority details of any applications made directly to the school in the normal admission round or as a late application, together with any supporting information provided by the parent (regardless of whether the parent making the application resides in that local authority's area);
- (b) to determine or make arrangements for another body (including their local authority) to determine by reference to the school's admissions criteria the order of priority in which each application for the school is ranked; and
- (c) to notify or, where arrangements have been made under sub-paragraph (b) for another body (not being their local authority) to make a determination, to arrange for that body to notify their local authority of their determination.

# SCHEDULE 3

Regulation 34

Representative bodies or persons of the religion or religious denomination for schools designated as having a religious character

Religion or religious denomination	Representative body or person
Church of England	The appropriate diocesan authority for the diocese in which the school is situated
Greek Orthodox	The Greek Orthodox Archdiocese of Thyateira and Great Britain
Hindu	The I-Foundation
Jewish	The appropriate rabbinic authority for the school listed in Schedule 4
Methodist	The Methodist Connexional Team Member with responsibility for Methodist State funded Schools and Academies
Muslim	The Association of Muslim Schools UK
Quaker	The Religious Society of Friends (Quakers)
Roman Catholic	The Diocesan Bishop or the equivalent in canon law for the diocese in which the school is situated
Seventh Day Adventist	The British Union Conference of Seventh Day Adventists
Sikh	Nanaksar Thath Isher Darbar Trust

# SCHEDULE 4

Schedule 3

## **Rabbinic** Authorities

Appropriate Rabbinic Authority	School	Postcode
The Birmingham Hebrew	King David Primary School,	B13 8EY

Congregation The Chief Rabbi of the United	Birmingham Brodetsky Primary School,	LS17 7TN
Hebrew Congregations of the British Commonwealth/United Synagogue	Leeds	
5) nugogue	Hertsmere Jewish Primary School, Radlett,	WD7 7LQ
	Ilford Jewish Primary School, Ilford	IG6 1LZ
	Independent Jewish Day School, London	NW4 2AH
	JFS, Harrow	НАЗ 9ТЕ
	King David High School, Manchester	M8 5DY
	King David High School, Liverpool	L15 6UZ
	King David Infants School, Manchester	M8 6DR
	King David Junior School, Manchester	M8 5DJ
	King David Primary School, Liverpool	L15 6XH
	King Solomon High School, Ilford,	IG6 3HB
	Mathilda Marks-Kennedy Jewish Primary School,	NW7 3RT
	London Michael Sobell Sinai School, Harrow	HA3 9UD
	Moriah Jewish Day School, Pinner	HA5 1JF
	North Cheshire Jewish Primary School, Heald Green	SK8 4RZ
	North West London Jewish Day School, London	NW6 7PP
	Rosh Pinah Jewish Primary School, Edgware	HA8 8TE
	Simon Marks Jewish Primary School, London	N16 6PD
	Wolfson Hillel Primary School, London	N14 4LG
	Yavneh College, Borehamwood	WD6 1HN
Elector Rabbis of the Jewish Secondary Schools Movement	Hasmonean High School, London	NW14 1NA
	Hasmonean Primary School, London	NW4 2PD
Golders Green Beth Hamedrash	Menorah Primary School, London	NW11 9SP
Jewish Community Day Schools Advisory Board	Akiva School, London	N3 2SY
	Clore Shalom Primary School, Shenley	WD7 9BL
	Clore Tikvah Primary School, Ilford	IG6 2JN

	Jewish Community Secondary School, New Barnet	EN4 9GE
The Lubavitch Foundation	Lubavitch Ruth Lunzer Girls Primary School, London	N16 5RP
Machzikei Hadass Synagogue, Manchester	Beis Yaakov High School, Salford	M7 4FF
	Yesoiday Hatorah School, Manchester	M25 OJW
The Union of Orthodox Hebrew Congregations	Avigdor Hirsch Torah Temimah Primary School, London	NW2 6RJ
	Menorah Foundation School, Edgware	HA8 0QS
	Pardes House Primary School, London	N3 1SA
	Yesodey Hatorah Senior Girls School, London	N16 6UB
Va'ad HaChinuch, London	Beis Yaakov Primary School, London	NW9 6NQ
Va'ad HaChinuch, Manchester	Broughton Jewish Cassel Fox Primary School, Salford	M7 4RT
	Bury and Whitefield Jewish Primary School, Bury	BL9 8JT
The Dean of Gateshead Talmudical College	Manchester Mesivta School, Prestwich	M25 0PH

#### **EXPLANATORY NOTE**

#### (This note is not part of the Regulations)

These Regulations are made under sections 88B, 88C, 88E, 88F, 88H, 88K, 88M, 88N, 88O, 88Q, 92, 100, 102, and 138(7) of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 ("SSFA 1998"), and section 29(5) of the Education Act 1996, and come into force on 1st February 2012 primarily in relation to admission arrangements for maintained schools for the academic year 2013-2014 and subsequent years (but see chapter 6 below and Part 3 below).

They consolidate, with amendments, the School Admissions (Admission Arrangements) (England) Regulations 2008, the School Admissions (Co-ordination of Admission Arrangements) (England) Regulations 2008, and the School Admissions (Local Authority Reports and Admission Forums) (England) Regulations 2008, which are all revoked by these Regulations.

Part 2 prescribes matters in relation to the content of the admission arrangements determined by admission authorities each year; the proportion of selective admissions (**regulation 5**); the prescribed subjects for selection by aptitude (**regulation 6**); and the priority to be given to looked after children (children in the care of a local authority) (**regulations 7 to 11**). Looked after children have to be looked after at the time of their application to the school if they are to receive priority (**regulation 7**). Schools with pre-existing selection arrangements (**regulation 10**) that admit applicants by ranking them according to their test score are not required to prioritise looked after children above those admitted in this way. Where such schools admit by reference to a preset standard, any looked after child who meets that standard must receive priority. Looked after children must be prioritised above any children who are admitted without reference to ability or aptitude in these schools.

Chapter 3 sets out the requirements on admission authorities when they consult on their admission arrangements, including persons or bodies that have to be consulted (regulation 12) and matters to which consultation is to relate (regulation 13). There is a new provision (regulation 14) that exempts schools that are their own admission authorities from having to consult on a proposal to increase or to keep the same admission number (the number of pupils they intend to admit). Admission authorities which are the local authority (for community and voluntary controlled schools) are required to consult the school's governing body where they propose to increase or keep the same number. The period over which a consultation is not required when there has been no change to the admission arrangements is increased from 3 to 7 years (regulation 15). An increase to the admission number or a change made to comply with a mandatory requirement of the School Admissions Code or these Regulations is not a change that would require a consultation (a local authority, as admission authority, would consult the governing body of community or voluntary controlled school if they proposed an increase to the number as set out above). During a consultation admission authorities are required to publish their proposed admission arrangements on their website where they have one, and send copies on request to the people or bodies listed in regulation 12 (regulation 16). Consultation must last at least 8 weeks and be completed by 1st March. For admission arrangements for academic year 2014-2015 and subsequent years consultation must commence no earlier than 1st November 2012 (regulation 17).

Chapter 4 prescribes the publication of information about local schools' admission arrangements by the local authority which includes the requirement that all local authorities publish a notice explaining the right to refer an objection to the adjudicator (**regulation 18**).

Chapter 5 prescribes certain matters in relation to the variation of admission arrangements after they have been determined, including: the circumstances in which admission authorities are authorised to make necessary variations (**regulation 19**) and that a variation to increase the admission number is not required to be referred to the adjudicator (**regulation 20**).

Chapter 6 prescribes matters in relation to the referral to the schools adjudicator of objections to admission arrangements. It applies to referrals in relation to arrangements for maintained schools and Academies. Objections that may not be referred include an objection regarding a decision to increase or keep the same admission number (though in relation to community and voluntary

controlled schools the governing body, where it is not the admission authority, may object to an increase or no change to its admission number) and an objection to an agreement between the Secretary of State and the proprietor of an Academy that the admission arrangements for an Academy may vary from the School Admissions Code in an Academy's funding agreement (Academy arrangement) (**regulation 21**). Provision is made restricting the referral of an objection regarding the same or substantially the same issue at a maintained school or Academy that has already been determined by the adjudicator within a two year period for that maintained school or Academy (**regulation 22**); for time limits for objections (**regulation 23**); for prohibiting anonymous objections (**regulation 24**); and requiring the information listed (in **Schedule 1**) to be provided by an admission authority when requested by the adjudicator (**regulation 25**).

Part 3 deals with co-ordination of admission arrangements. Local authorities, with the exception of the Council of the Isles of Scilly, are required to formulate qualifying schemes (as described in **Schedule 2**) to co-ordinate arrangements for the admission of pupils to maintained schools in their area, so that parents apply to their home local authority (irrespective of where the school might be) and receive one offer of a school place (**regulation 26**). Part 3 applies in relation to arrangements for admission in the academic year 2014-2015 and subsequent years, and a scheme adopted under the School Admissions (Co-ordination of Admission Arrangements) (England) Regulations 2008 for admissions in September 2012 and 2013 will continue to have effect except in relation to 2013 the extent that it relates to in-year admissions (**regulation 31**).

The qualifying scheme will co-ordinate the applications made in the course of a normal admission round (applications for a normal year of entry, made according to the annual timetable for applying to primary and secondary schools) and late applications (applications for the normal year of entry, made outside the course of a normal admission round but before the first school day of the academic year). There is no requirement to co-ordinate in-year applications for 2013 and subsequent years. Provision is made for the actions to be taken by the local authority in formulating a scheme, including consultation where the qualifying scheme is substantially different to the scheme adopted for the previous academic year or where it is 7 years since the last consultation (regulation 27); for a local authority to inform the Secretary of State whether they have secured the adoption of a qualifying scheme by 15th April (regulation 28); and for the Secretary of State to impose a scheme if no such qualifying scheme has been adopted (regulation 29). Regulation 30 prescribes 1st March for secondary schools and 16th April for primary schools as the dates (the offer date) on which an offer must be sent to a parent regarding their child's primary or secondary school place. Sections 496 and 497 of the Education Act 1996 are applied to a local authority or a governing body as if any obligations imposed under a qualifying scheme were imposed under that Act (regulation 32).

Part 4 provides that a clerk to an appeal panel is a relevant person for the purposes of section 88Q of the SSFA 1998 (a person who must provide information to a local authority if requested by the local authority) (**regulation 33**), and the persons or bodies representative of the religion or religious denomination for schools designated as having a religious character (**regulation 34 and Schedules 3 and 4**).



<sup>©</sup> Crown copyright 2012

Printed and published in the UK by The Stationery Office Limited under the authority and superintendence of Carol Tullo, Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office and Queen's Printer of Acts of Parliament.